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Responses to Questions Submitted to the 
New York State Deferred Compensation Plan regarding the  
Request for Proposal for Separately Managed Fixed Income 

Or Insurance Company Separate Accounts 
 
 

1. Can you provide a non-P.O. Box number that Fed Ex will deliver to along with a phone 
number that we can provide the delivery service with? 
 
Empire State Plaza Concourse – North 
Room 124 
Albany, NY  12223 
Phone Number 518-473-6619 
 

2. Our firm does not currently manage any 457 Plan accounts assets.  Is current management 
of 457 plan account assets a selection criteria? 

 
Current non-management of a 457(b) account is not a disqualifying criterion.  The Board will use 
criteria that comply with the requirements of the Rules and Regulations, including Sections 
9003.2 and 9003.3 thereof. 

 
3. We noted that the Stable Value fund duration is 3.0 years with a permissible range of 1.5 

years to 4.0 years.  Are you thus looking for strategies that have durations under 4.0 years, 
or would you consider a core strategy (Barclays Aggregate Index has a duration of about 
5.39 as of 12/31/2013)? 
 
Proposals for strategies which would cause the Stable Value Fund duration to exceed its 
permissible range will not be considered. 

 
4. Related to Exhibit D, can you explain the different categories of managers listed?  One 

category is called “Funding Agreements” and another is called “Wrapped Fixed Income.” 
 

The Wrapped Fixed Income component may consist of a portfolio or portfolios of fixed income 
securities and one or more Wrap Contracts to provide book value liquidity with respect to fixed 
income portfolios for Plan benefit payments. A Plan custodian holds the assets in such fixed 
income portfolios. 
 
The Funding Agreements or Separate Accounts may consist of separate account contracts with 
insurance companies under which (i) the assets contributed by the Fund are invested within the 
limits set forth in Fixed Income Sector Investment Guidelines (ii) the insurance company 
provides coverage for book value accounting, and (iii) the assets contributed by the Fund are held 
by the insurance company in a separate account segregated from the general assets of the 
insurance company, or any other similar product. 

 
5. Is the cost of providing the wrap for the product the responsibility of the manager? 

 
No, however, the fees and expense associated with the wrap contract and the management of the 
underlying fixed income portfolio may be deducted from such assets generally on a quarterly 
basis consistent with the terms of the wrap contract or investment management or other 
agreement. 
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6. Please expand on the process of getting a product wrapped and the specific responsibility of 
the investment manager. 

 
Obtaining wrap coverage for an investment management only proposal is not the responsibility of 
the investment manager. Such coverage may be arranged by the Stable Value Structure Manager: 
GSAM Stable Value, LLC.  GSAM’s services in arranging wrap coverage include (i) 
identification and using reasonable efforts to secure adequate wrap capacity for the Fund, (ii) 
credit research, (iii) Wrap Contract crediting rate calculation, (iv) Wrap Contract provider 
selection and (v) Wrap Contract negotiation, including investment guidelines for the wrapped 
strategy acceptable to the issuer. 
 
If the selected investment manager has not been previously approved by the wrap provider, the 
selected manager may be required to participate in a due diligence process in order to be 
approved by the wrap provider.  

 
7. Please expand on how cash inflows and outflows will be managed and the expected 

frequency and amounts of additions and withdrawals. 
 
The Fund includes a cash account to provide for daily liquidity. All participant contributions to 
the Fund are initially deposited into the cash account. Payments made from the Fund at any time 
as a result of transfers by participants to other investment options under the Plan, distributions to 
participants, or withdrawals by participants under the Plan, are currently made from the cash 
account. The Board reserves the right to make payments, on a pro-rata basis from all GICs, 
separate account investment contracts, and wrapped fixed income separate accounts managed by 
registered investment advisers to the extent that the cash account is depleted by participant 
withdrawals. The withdrawal methodology may be changed during the life of this contract with 
the agreement of the issuers of benefit responsive contracts held by the Fund. All proposals 
submitted must provide for such access to funds or for reallocations among the Fund’s managers. 
 
Inflows to and outflows from the GICs, separate account investment contracts, and wrapped fixed 
income separate accounts are anticipated to be infrequent based on historical cash flow 
experience. 
 

8. What are your specific insurance coverage requirements including limits? 
 
Each financial organization selected will be required to provide appropriate evidence of adequate 
insurance and adequate bonding in accordance with Section 9005.4 of the Rules and Regulations. 
The final determination as to whether adequate insurance and adequate bonding are provided by 
the relevant financial organization will be made by the Board, in accordance with the Rules and 
Regulations, at the time of selection. 
 

9. What is the current fee structure for existing managers on Exhibit D? 
 
Fees vary by financial organizations.  Based on the manager fee schedule in effect as of 
December 31, 2013, fees range from 10.6bps to 19.5bps. 
 

10. If the New York State Deferred Compensation Plan Board chooses a fixed income mandate, 
will the Board or the Stable Value manager be the contracting entity? 

 
The Board will be the contracting entity. 
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11. Contract Termination Question: 
Background: 
Section II (Background) of the RFP indicates the following: “The Plan is governed by 
Section 457 of the IRC, Section 5 of the New York State Finance Law, Parts 9000 – 9006 of 
the New York State Code of Rules and Regulations (the “Rules and Regulations”), and all 
other applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations.” 
Section (a) of Part 9003.5 (Miscellaneous Requirements) of the Rules and Regulations 
indicates the following:  “(a)  All contracts and agreements entered into with a trustee, an 
independent consultant, a financial organization, a firm of certified public accountants or 
an administrative service agency shall be in writing, shall be awarded on the basis of a 
competitive bid conducted or a search conducted in accordance with Section 9003.1(c) in 
respect of the specific contract or agreement in accordance with this Part 9003, shall not 
exceed five years in duration, and shall impose no penalties or surrender charges for the 
transfer of assets or responsibilities on expiration of the contract or agreement.”  
In addition, Section (c) of Part 9003.5 allows the Board to enter into an agreement with a 
financial services organization as long as certain criteria are met.  9003.5 (c)(2)(iii)(iii) of the 
Rules and Regulations specifies the following:  “(iii)  the guaranteed investment contract or 
wrap contract, as applicable, imposes no penalties or surrender charges for the transfer of 
assets or responsibilities on expiration of the contract or agreement.”  
 
Question 1: 
Are contracts that allow the Plan at the end of the five year contract term to receive either 
the fair market value of the securities in the underlying portfolio after sale of such securities 
or an in-kind transfer of those securities, irrespective of whether the value of those 
securities is less than or greater than the “book value liability” (contract accumulation) 
acceptable under 9003.5? In other words is paying out the fair market value of those 
securities, or transferring those securities in kind to another manager or contract 
immediately at the end of the contract term considered a “penalty or surrender charge” in 
accordance with 9003.5 if such value is less than the book value liability, or since fair 
market value is a true reflection of the value of the securities is paying such amount not 
considered a “penalty”? 
 
Benefit responsive Funding Agreements have a maturity date on the tenth anniversary of the 
issuance of the Funding Agreement unless the Board extends the maturity date of the agreement 
in accordance with its Rules and Regulations. The payment at maturity equals the greater of the 
book value or the market value of the contract.  Investment management only agreements 
terminate on the tenth anniversary of the issuance of such agreements unless the Board extends 
the termination date of the agreement in accordance with its Rules and Regulations. Upon 
termination, assets and/or cash will be transferred to another manager. 
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Question 2: 
If paying out the fair market value of those securities, or transferring those securities in 
kind to another manager or contract immediately at the end of the contract term is 
considered a “penalty or surrender charge”, then do the Rules and Regulations require 
payment to be made at the end of the contract term in an amount equal to or greater than 
the book value liability?  If so it would seem that the New York Department of Financial 
Services would take issue with such provisions given the significant risk they impose on the 
insurer (e.g. paying book value of liabilities in a lump sum if the market value of the 
securities is less than book value) and the fact that such provisions would not seem to be 
“self supporting” 
 
The New York Department of Financial Services has reviewed and approved separate account 
Funding Agreements that have been issued to the Plan and which provide for payment of the 
greater of  book value or market value at maturity. 
 
Question 3: 
Does a contract that automatically goes into a multi-year book value installment paydown 
mode after the initial five-year term where payments are made in, for example, annual 
installments starting at the end of year five and continuing for x more years where each 
payment is in an amount equal to an increasing percentage of the then remaining balance of 
the contract accumulation acceptable under Part 9003.5? 
 
The term of a Funding Agreement may not exceed ten years in addition to any extension period 
authorized by the Board in accordance with its Rules and Regulations. Any proposed installment 
payments could not extend beyond such period. 
 

12. Section (c) of Part 9003.5 allows the Board to enter into an agreement with a financial 
services organization as long as certain criteria are met. Part 9003.5 (c)(2)(iii)(iv) of the 
Rules and Regulations specifies that: “(iv)     the trustee of the plan continues to be the 
owner on behalf of the plan of all of the assets of the stable income fund; and”.   The RFP 
for the plan dated February 5, 2014 indicates that the Board is “seeking formal written 
proposals from financial organizations to provide (i) a separately managed fixed income 
portfolio (“Investment Management Only”) or (ii) an Insurance Company Separate 
Account Funding Agreement invested in fixed income securities…”  Given that the assets in 
the collateral portfolio supporting guarantees under Insurance Company Separate Account 
Funding Agreements are technically owned by the insurance company in accordance with 
statutory insurance law and are not owned by the plan or plan trust as is the case with so-
called “synthetic GICs” or “wrap contracts”, it would seem that the ability to utilize 
Insurance Company Separate Account Funding Agreements would be precluded by Part 
9003.5 (c)(2)(iii)(iv) of the Rules and Regulations.  How do you reconcile the discrepancy 
between the types of products that can be utilized based on the Rules and Regulations 
(trustee owns the assets) and the RFP which is seeking as one of its options, proposals for 
Insurance Company Separate Account Funding Agreements (insurance company owns the 
assets)? 
 
In the context of Insurance Company Separate Accounts, the plan assets subject to the trust 
requirement of Section (c) of Part 9003.5 are the Plan’s interest in the separate account, not the 
securities held in the separate account.  
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13. Participant Demographics:  
a. What percentage of the Stable Income Fund is held by participants age 55 and 

older?  
 
67% of the assets in the Fund are held by participants 55 and older 
 

b. What percentage of the Stable Income Fund is held by participants age 65 and older 
 
45% of the assets in the Fund are held by participants 65 and older 
 

c. What percentage of the Stable Income Fund is held by participants age 70 and 
older? 
 
10% of the assets in the Fund are held by participants 70 and older 

 
d. What percentage of the Stable Income Fund is held by terminated vested 

participants? 
 
16% of the assets in the Fund are held by terminated participants  

 
14. Plan Demographics Plan Liquidity:  

a. What percentage of the Stable Income Fund is held by participants employed by the 
State of New York? 
 

i. 70% of the assets in the Fund are held by participants employed by the State of 
New York 

 
b. For the remaining percentage that represents holdings of the Stable Income Fund 

by participants employed by Other Participating Public Jurisdictions, please 
provide: 

i. Total number of such employers whose participants have balances in the 
Stable Income Fund 

 
1,262 employers  

 
ii. Assets in the Stable Income Fund, by employer, for the top ten employers 

 
Below are the assets in the Fund for the top ten employers: 
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iii. For these employers other than the State of New York: 

1. What are the terms by which the employer can choose to leave the 
NYS DCP, specifically with respect to the liquidity of their 
participant balances in the Stable Income Fund (e.g. are these 
balances liquid to such plans and their participants in a lump sum 
immediately or at book value after an x day deferral period? 
 
Section 12.2 of the Plan Documents states that “Any Participating 
Employer may terminate its adoption of the Plan by filing with the 
Administrative Service Agency and the Board a copy of a resolution or 
other legal action, adopted in the same manner as the resolution or other 
legal action adopted pursuant to Section 12.1(a), specifying a termination 
date which shall be no earlier than the last Business Day of a month at 
least three months subsequent to the date such notice is received by the 
Administrative Service Agency and the Board.”  All assets in the Plan 
related to employees of a terminating employer will transferred to the 
new administrative service agency as directed by the employer.  There 
are no deferral periods. 
 

2. If a deferral period applies, what it length of such period (also 
referred to as a “put” period)? 
 
There are no deferral periods. 

 
3. How many plans are in such a “put queue” currently, when are the 

scheduled payments and how much is scheduled to be paid out in 
such scheduled payments? 

 
Currently, there are no participating employers who have provided notice 
that they will be terminating from the Plan.  Only one participating 
employer has terminated participation in the Plan since its adoption in 
1985. 
 

15. Employer Initiated Events:  Contracts issued to stable value funds typically provide that if 
an employer declares bankruptcy, has a group layoff off program, group early retirement 
incentive program or experiences some other type of event or communication that causes 
participants to withdraw from the stable value option at a more rapid pace than historical 
norms, this is typically referred to as an “Employer Initiated Event”.  Typically payments 
to plan participants following such Employer Initiated Events are paid at the lesser of book 
value or market value (or book value up to a certain amount and then lesser of book value 
and market value once the threshold has been reached).  For any employer participating in 
the NYSDC Plan will the NYSDC Board approve of contracts where if such contract is 
tapped to fund these withdrawals the amounts are paid similar to the description above? 
 
The Fund’s benefit responsive agreements have definitions for Employer Initiated Events and 
corridor terms. Participant withdrawals are administered in compliance with those contract terms 
so that, for example, withdrawals made from a contract in connection with the occurrence of an 
Employer Initiated Event such as group layoff program, retirement incentive programs that 
exceed the corridor result in a market value adjustment to the book value of the contract. 
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16. The RFP indicates a contract size of from $400 million to $1 billion:  
a. Which manager(s) / contract(s) are being terminated? 

 
The following manager contracts are expiring on September 30, 2014: 

BlackRock Short 
Goldman Intermediate Core 

 
b. Will the deposit to the new portfolio / new contract be made in cash or in securities 

in kind? 
 
The contracts awarded will be funded in the form of securities, cash or a combination 
thereof. 
 

c. Will the deposit to the new portfolio / new contract be equivalent to the contract 
accumulation paid out of the terminating contract? 
 
The deposit to the new portfolio / new contract will depend on factors including but not 
limited to participant cash flow, capacity with current providers, and competitiveness of 
proposals.  
 

17. Section III of the RFP indicates that if the Stable Income Account’s cash account becomes 
depleted as a result of participant withdrawals, then the Board reserves the right to request 
pro-rata withdrawals from all contracts.  This pro-rata approach is a typical 
provision.  However the RFP goes on to indicate that “The withdrawal methodology may be 
changed during the life of this contract. All proposals submitted must provide for such 
access to funds or for reallocations to/from other managers.”  Is this text intending to 
indicate that the Board will only consider contracts where the Board has the power, in lieu 
of pro-rata withdrawals, to cherry pick withdrawals from certain contracts / portfolios but 
not others to replenish the cash account?  If so is it intended that such cherry-picked 
withdrawals payments would be made at book value or market value irrespective of book 
value (the latter being the method typically utilized in contracts issued to stable value funds 
in conjunction with miscellaneous contract owner withdrawals and / or partial termination 
payments)? 

 
The Board reserves the right to seek the consent of issuers to change the withdrawal methodology 
during the life of the contract. 
 
The Board reserves the right to reallocate funds to/from managers as a normal course of 
managing the Fund. 
 

18. The Cancellation portion of Section G of the RFP indicates in part “Cancellation for 
Convenience: The Board retains the right to cancel the contract without reason provided 
that the contractor is given written notice of its intent to cancel.”  Please confirm that a 
contract that allows such termination without cause with the proceeds paid shortly 
thereafter in an amount equal to the fair market value of the securities in the collateral 
portfolio supporting the contract (or satisfied by transferring the securities in kind), 
irrespective of the value of the contract accumulation is acceptable.   
 
The Board may elect to terminate a funding agreement in accordance with the termination 
provisions agreed upon in such agreement which typically include the Board’s ability to elect (i) to 
terminate the agreement upon notice at market value, (ii) to wind-down the agreement over an 
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agreed upon period and receive payment of the greater of book value and market value at the wind-
down maturity date, or (iii) to receive payment of the greater of book value and market value on the 
agreement’s Maturity Date. In any case, termination payments must be made by a date on or before 
the tenth anniversary of the issuance of the Funding Agreement unless the Board extends the 
maturity date of the agreement in accordance with its Rules and Regulations. 

 
19. Are there any high yield investments currently in the Stable Income Fund? If not, would the 

Plan or policy allow for a Short Duration High Yield portfolio? 
 
Based on the current investment policy, securities must be rated at least BBB-/Baa3 by Moody’s, 
S&P and/or Fitch.  The weighted average portfolio quality on each day will be rated at least Aa3 
by Moody’s, AA- by S&P and/or AA- by Fitch.  
 
In the case of split-rated securities, the Sub-Manager(s) and Separate Accounts will use the 
middle rating to determine compliance with quality guidelines for securities that are rated by 
Moody’s, S&P and Fitch and the lower rating for securities rated by only two of such agencies. 
For securities that are rated by only one rating agency, the Sub-Manager(s) and Separate 
Accounts will use the rating assigned by such agency. If a security is downgraded below the 
minimum credit quality set forth herein, the Sub-Manager(s) and Separate Accounts will dispose 
of the security in a prudent manner, with a target disposition of 30 days after the date of the 
downgrade.  
 

20. Would a defensive Short Duration High Yield portfolio (primarily BB/B) be eligible for 
wrap coverage? Or is the Fund strictly investment grade? 

 
Please refer to question #19. 
 

21. In the event that high yield portfolios are included in the Plan’s policy, must a high yield 
manager seek approval from a wrap issuer prior to submission of proposal on March 14, 
2014? 
 
Please refer to question #19. 
 

22. What will be the benchmark for the Short-Term mandate? What will be the benchmark for 
the Intermediate-Term mandate? 
 
The fixed income benchmarks for existing strategies are as follows: 
            Merrill 1-3 Year Treasury Index 
            Barclays Capital 1-3 Government/Credit Index 
            Barclays Capital Intermediate Aggregate Index 
            Barclays Capital Aggregate Index           
 
In addition to these benchmarks, the Board will consider appropriate benchmarks for strategies 
which are currently wrapped or the Board and its advisers believe will be approved for wrap 
coverage based on current market conditions. 
 

  



9 
 

23. Section I. Purpose, 2nd paragraph on page 2 of the RFP states that “Wrap coverage for an 
investment management only proposal may be arranged by the Board’s 
advisers.”  Furthermore, Section III. Product Design Requirements, paragraph 5 on page 6 
of the RFP states that “Proposals for strategies which are not currently wrapped or the 
Board and its advisers believe will not be approved for wrap coverage based on current 
market conditions will not be considered.”  Can you please provide the specific criteria the 
Board and its advisers will use in determining eligibility for wrap coverage? 
 
Please refer to question #6. 
 

24. In Product Appendix B, Section V. Compliance Requirements, question 4, Compliance with 
Minimum Requirements – can you please clarify to which minimum compliance 
requirements that we are affirming to?  Are they the ones in questions 1-3 of Section V. 
Compliance Requirements?    

 
The undersigned affirms compliance with all the conditions set forth in the RFP, including all 
exhibits, and all the statutes and regulations pertaining thereto. 
 

25. Is the plan seeking wrap capacity for new dollars or existing allocations?  
 
Please refer to question #16 
 

26. If existing allocations are going to fund the new investment where are the funds being re-
allocated from and why?  
 
Please refer to question #16 
 

27. If an existing allocation, would it possible to see the portfolio holdings; including a list of 
future cashflows and maturities? 
 
Should the contract awarded be funded in the form of securities, a file containing the security 
cusips will be provided in advance of the effective date of the contract. 
 

28. What is the maximum exposure the plan will accept for a wrap issuer? What is the 
maximum exposure the plan will accept for an Investment Manager?  
 
The Investment Policies and Guidelines for the Stable Income Fund do not contain specific 
guidelines related to the maximum exposure to a wrap issuer or investment manager.   
 
In managing and monitoring the Fund’s allocations within the Guidelines, the Stable Value 
Structure Manager will assess the Fund’s duration, the Fund’s immediate and anticipated liquidity 
needs, the terms of the investment contracts, the Fund’s long-term objectives, the performance of 
the various Sub-Managers and Separate Accounts and such other factors that the Stable Value 
Structure Manager deems prudent to determine appropriate allocations to each wrap issuer, 
separate account issuer and investment manager. 
 

29. Would you provide the standard plan underwriting package?  
 
The Stable Value Structure Manager intends to deliver an underwriting package to wrap contract 
issuers on its approved wrap issuer list following the Closing Date for Submission of Proposals 
on March 14, 2014. 
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30. Would you confirm if page 7 missing from the Standard clauses for NYS contracts in 

Exhibit A?  Items 24 and 25 should appear on page 7 according to the Table of Contents for 
Exhibit A.   
 
A complete version of Appendix A Standard Clauses for New York State Contracts effective 
January 2014 is attached at the end of the Questions and Answers. 
 

31. Would you be able to provide Microsoft Word versions of the RFP and Appendices?    
 
Yes, a copy will be made available. 
 

32. The procurement guidelines indicate that Callan is the main point of contact.  For purposes 
of verifying wrap coverage of various products, is it possible for managers to reach out 
directly to our contacts with your current wrap providers or other wrap providers the State 
is currently not in contract with? 

 
Managers may reach out directly to wrap providers to confirm if a strategy being proposed would 
be approved for wrap coverage based on current market conditions. 
 

33. What is driving this RFP – contract expiration, manager under performance, etc? 
 
The RFP is a result of contract expiration. 
 

34. Is there a specific strategy or duration target that is being sought to maintain the overall 
Fund’s duration? 

 
There is no specific strategy or duration target being sought other than one or a combination 
thereof that maintains the overall Fund’s duration. 
 

35. Is there a preference for a solution that is an insurance separate account or a separately 
managed wrapped fixed income product? 
 
The Stable Value Structure Manager and the Board will evaluate all the merits of the proposal 
and select the proposal that is deemed to be the most favorable for the Fund and its participants. 
 

36. Please provide the most current market to book value ratio for the contract(s) that are most 
likely to fund the new separate account. What is the source of the opportunity? 

 
As of December 31, 2013 the market-to-book ratio of the contracts expiring was 102.1%.  Please 
refer to question #16 for the source of the opportunity. 
 

37. Are you looking to shorten the overall duration of the Stable Income Fund with this 
funding? Are you trying to shorten to a duration target of less than 3.0 years? If so, to what 
target? 

 
At this time we are not looking to shorten the overall duration of the Stable Income Fund. 
 

38. What is Stable Income Fund’s current crediting rate? 
 
As of December 31, 2013 the Fund’s crediting rate was 1.66% 
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39. Can you provide clarification on the maturity limits for each strategy – Short Duration, 

Core Fixed Income, Fully Wrapped?  The guidelines appear to be written for the Fund 
rather than for the sub advisors. 

 
The sub advisors for each fixed income strategy are subject to the Investment Policies and 
Guidelines contained in Exhibit F.  Each IMA entered into by the Board will contain investment 
guidelines that will be no broader than the Investment Policies and Guidelines. 
 

40. Can you provide the benchmark for each strategy – Short Duration, Core Fixed Income, 
Fully Wrapped? 
 
See question #22  
 

41. The investment guidelines in section A of Exhibit F pertaining to stable value indicate a 
maturity limit of 25 months on Treasury and Government-related securities.  Is the 
manager able to hold Treasuries and Government-related bonds that are longer than that 
in the short duration strategy as long as the overall weighted average maturity is 25 months 
or less? 
 
The guidelines referenced that relate to the limit of 25 months on Treasury and Government-
related securities are for the cash portfolio only. 
 
The Sub-Manager(s) and Separate Accounts will manage the duration within a range specified in 
the IMA guidelines that will not exceed 80% - 120% of the duration of the assigned benchmark 
index. 
 

42. If the Plan already has capacity within existing Stable Value wrap providers and approved 
managers, is there something specific you are looking for that you do not currently have or 
is there a specific reason the Plan is not simply allocating to existing providers? 

 
All qualified proposals will be evaluated and an award will be made to the financial organization 
whose product represents the best option to the Plan and whose product is determined to be in the 
best interests of the Plan's participants. 
 

43. The NYS Office of General Services, Legal Requirements for IFB’s and RFP’s have more 
recent versions of Appendix A (January 2014) than the Appendix A (December 2011) for 
this RFP.  We would like to confirm that the December 2011 version will be the version 
used with the final IMA. 
 
See question #30 
 

44. Will the transition to a new contract include assumption of any existing market-to-book 
value gain or loss embedded in the existing contracts? 
 
The deposit amount, form of deposit, and market-to-book ratio to the new portfolio / new contract 
will depend on factors including but not limited to participant cash flow, capacity with current 
providers, and competitiveness of proposals.  
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45. Is there any form of equity wash provision in place between the PCRA and the Stable 
Income Fund? 
 
The Schwab PCRA is not currently treated as a Competing Fund under the contracts.   
 
The Stable Value Structure Manager and the Board would consider Funding Agreement terms 
providing for the PCRA to become a Competing Fund following the occurrence of certain 
specified conditions. Should the PCRA be declared a Competing Investment Option in 
accordance with such provisions, equity wash procedures would be implemented by the 
contractholder. 

46. Can you provide any requirements around the required maturity of the contract in ten 
years?  
 
See question #11 
 

47. Is there a preference to transition cash or in-kind securities to the new contract/mandate? 
 
The preference is to transition securities in-kind to the new contract/mandate to minimize 
transaction costs. 
 

48. We have the capability to provide either an insurance company separate account contract 
or synthetic contract wrapping the same investment mandate. Does the Plan have any 
preference for the form of contract? 
 
See question #35 
 

49. Section VI – Conditions (pg. 18) indicates responding organizations are advised to become 
familiar the Rules and Regulations, Terms, and Provisions of the Plan, which will be 
incorporated into any final contract by reference. Please provide these Plan “Conditions” or 
advise as to their location within the RFP? 
 
The section is intended to inform bidders that the Rules and Regulations of the Board and the 
terms and conditions of the Plan are attached as exhibits to manager contracts, and that such 
contract terms are subject to these documents. Copies of the documents are available online 
at https://www.nysdcp.com/iApp/tcm/nysdcp/planguidelines/planinfo/index.jsp.  
 

50. Please confirm there will be a negotiation of an investment management agreement with the 
selected investment-only manager(s)? We fully understand there will be no negotiation on 
the Standard Clauses for New York State Contracts. 
 
That is correct. 
 

51. In Appendix A - Standard Clauses for New York State Contracts, Section 10 – Records, 
would the Board be amenable to an out-of-state venue as the mutually agreeable venue for 
records review. 
 
The venue of records review would be one of many factors that the Board will consider in 
evaluating bids. 
 

  

https://www.nysdcp.com/iApp/tcm/nysdcp/planguidelines/planinfo/index.jsp
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52. On page 9 of the RFP, line 7 of the second paragraph makes reference to “Rules and 
Regulations” – what do these refer to? 
 
All contracts with the Board are subject to the terms of the Plan and the Rules and Regulations, as 
both are amended from time to time, and all other applicable requirements of State law. A copy of 
the Rules and Regulations may be obtained from the Board’s Web site, 
http://www.goer.ny.gov/nysdcp. 
 

53. What is the current benchmark for the core provider? 
 
See question #22 
 

54. In Section V. Selection Process, (G), Rights Reserved (7) – “In order to serve the best 
interests of the Plan and its participants, the Board reserves the right to…Make any 
payment contingent upon the submission of specific deliverables.”   Can you please provide 
guidance/clarity on the types of deliverables that are contemplated by this language?  

 
The specific deliverables would vary by financial organization. An example of a deliverable 
would be written documentation of expenses actually incurred or valuation report supporting fee 
calculation. 
 

55. Please confirm that the State of New York and/or BONY will allow a Stable Value Fund 
manager to offer a separate collective trust product and provide its own wrapper.  
 
The Board may select one or more providers for an Insurance Company Separate Account 
Funding Agreement invested in fixed income securities. For investment management only 
proposals, either a separately managed fixed income portfolio or fixed income collective 
investment vehicle would be considered by the Board, with the wrap coverage to be arranged by 
the Board’s advisors 
 

56. Please confirm that BONY/Mellon will be the trustee and holder of the separate collective 
trust contract, but that the separate collective trust can hold the underlying securities 
 
In the context of a collective trust, the Plan’s trustee (currently BONY/Mellon) would hold the 
plan’s interest in the collective trust, and the collective trust would hold the interest in the 
underlying assets of the collective trust.  
 

57. Please confirm that State of NY and/or BONY/Mellon will allow a sub-manager to manage 
the assets within a collective trust product. 
 
See question #55 
 

58. Are there minimum qualifications, in terms of assets required, etc., for this RFP? 
 
Please refer to Section V. Selection Process for evaluation criteria, including any minimum 
qualifications. 
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59. Investment Policy and Guidelines. 
a. What is the maximum underlying portfolio duration permitted under the wrap 

contract(s)? 
 
The Fund has a maximum duration of 4 years under the New York Deferred 
Compensation Board Stable Income Fund Investment Policies and Guidelines 
 

b. Is there potential flexibility to make modest modifications/increases to the limits on 
investment grade bonds in the following areas?   

i. Corporates 
ii. Total CMBS and residential MBS 

iii. Emerging Markets 
 
Any changes to the Fixed Income Sector Investment Guidelines in Section III(B) of the 
State of New York Deferred Compensation Board Stable Income Fund Investment 
Policies and Guidelines would require approval by the Board.  Proposals may set forth 
recommended amendments to such Investment Policies and Guidelines. 
 

60. State Finance Law. Section 5. Part 9005.4 Bonding and insurance.   
a. The insurance requirements referenced in the RFP requires that investment 

managers must carry a bond to protect against any loss resulting from fraud or 
dishonesty by such person or the employees, officers and agents thereof (as further 
described) obtained an organization duly authorized and licensed to provide such 
bond in the State of New York.  
Our firm (including its subsidiaries) currently carries a $130,000,000 Fidelity Bond 
to protect against certain employee and third-party dishonest or fraudulent acts.  
The insurer is a risk retention group, organized under the laws of the state of 
Vermont and authorized to transact business in New York by the Federal Liability 
Risk Retention Act of 1986.  In addition, we can list the plan on our ERISA bond 
which names the plan as payee in the maximum amount of $1 Million.  The insurers 
for these bonds are licensed in the State of New York.   

i. Would the above be acceptable? 
 
The final determination as to whether adequate insurance and adequate bonding are 
provided by the relevant financial organization will be made by the Board, in accordance 
with the Rules and Regulations, at the time of selection. 

 
61. Contractual Relationship(s).   

a. Would sub-managers of fixed income assets supporting investment contracts be 
required to enter into a contractual relationship with GSAM Stable Value LLC in 
addition to the New York State Deferred Compensation Board?  If so, please 
provide additional information regarding such arrangement and the parties’ 
obligations under such contract.   
 
The written contract with the awarded financial organization for Investment Management 
Only mandates shall be a contract between the New York State Deferred Compensation 
Board and the financial organization.  
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b. Would sub-managers of fixed income assets supporting investment contracts be 
required to enter into any contracts with the wrap providers? 
 
The sub-manager of fixed income assets supporting investment contracts is not a party to 
the wrap agreement.  
 
Under the terms of investment management agreements, the sub-managers of fixed 
income assets supporting investment contracts will acknowledge and agree that the terms 
of the wrap agreement may impose, from time to time, additional restrictions concerning 
the management of the account and such sub-manager will comply with directions and 
requests for information from the Stable Value Structure Manager in connection with the 
administration of the Fund and such benefit responsive contracts. 

 
62. Affirmative Action and MWBE Considerations.   

a. Please confirm that Exhibit B and Section 12 of Exhibit apply to this type of 
contract if it does not involve employment within the State of New York (see Article 
15-A, §312 of New York Executive Law).  To the extent any New York employment 
law were applicable, will compliance with Federal EEO law be deemed to achieve 
compliance with New York law?   We would also like to confirm our understanding 
that if New York employment law is applicable, minority hiring quotas are not 
required.  
 
The requirements under the New York Executive Law Section 312 do not apply to any 
employment outside the state of New York.  To the extent the New York discrimination 
law is applicable, compliance with Federal EEO will not be sufficient to meet the New 
York requirements. The New York law generally sets forth more expansive requirements. 
Hiring quotas are not required.  
 

b. Section 20 of Exhibit A requires reasonable efforts to utilize certified MWBEs and 
to provide documentation regarding such efforts upon request.  Would sub-
managers be required to direct brokerage business to any certified MWBE 
brokerage firms?   

 
Subject to best execution, the Board would view positively a commitment by a financial 
organization to direct brokerage activity to qualified MWBE brokerage firms, but no such 
activity will be mandated in the contract with the financial organization.  
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STANDARD CLAUSES FOR NYS CONTRACTS 

 
The parties to the attached contract, license, lease, amendment 
or other agreement of any kind (hereinafter, "the contract" or 
"this contract") agree to be bound by the following clauses 
which are hereby made a part of the contract (the word 
"Contractor" herein refers to any party other than the State, 
whether a contractor, licenser, licensee, lessor, lessee or any 
other party): 
 
1. EXECUTORY CLAUSE.  In accordance with Section 41 
of the State Finance Law, the State shall have no liability 
under this contract to the Contractor or to anyone else beyond 
funds appropriated and available for this contract. 
 
2. NON-ASSIGNMENT CLAUSE.  In accordance with 
Section 138 of the State Finance Law, this contract may not be 
assigned by the Contractor or its right, title or interest therein 
assigned, transferred, conveyed, sublet or otherwise disposed 
of without the State’s previous written consent, and attempts 
to do so are null and void.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
such prior written consent of an assignment of a contract let 
pursuant to Article XI of the State Finance Law may be 
waived at the discretion of the contracting agency and with the 
concurrence of the State Comptroller where the original 
contract was subject to the State Comptroller’s approval, 
where the assignment is due to a reorganization, merger or 
consolidation of the Contractor’s business entity or enterprise. 
The State retains its right to approve an assignment and to 
require that any Contractor demonstrate its responsibility to do 
business with the State.  The Contractor may, however, assign 
its right to receive payments without the State’s prior written 
consent unless this contract concerns Certificates of 
Participation pursuant to Article 5-A of the State Finance Law. 
 
3. COMPTROLLER'S APPROVAL.  In accordance with 
Section 112 of the State Finance Law (or, if this contract is 
with the State University or City University of New York, 
Section 355 or Section 6218 of the Education Law), if this 
contract exceeds $50,000 (or the minimum thresholds agreed 
to by the Office of the State Comptroller for certain S.U.N.Y. 
and C.U.N.Y. contracts), or if this is an amendment for any 
amount to a contract which, as so amended, exceeds said 
statutory amount, or if, by this contract, the State agrees to 
give something other than money when the value or 
reasonably estimated value of such consideration exceeds 
$10,000, it shall not be valid, effective or binding upon the 
State until it has been approved by the State Comptroller and 
filed in his office.  Comptroller's approval of contracts let by 
the Office of General Services is required when such contracts 
exceed $85,000 (State Finance Law Section 163.6-a). 
However, such pre-approval shall not be required for any 
contract established as a centralized contract through the 
Office of General Services or for a purchase order or other 
transaction issued under such centralized contract. 
 
4. WORKERS' COMPENSATION BENEFITS. In 
accordance with Section 142 of the State Finance Law, this 

contract shall be void and of no force and effect unless the 
Contractor shall provide and maintain coverage during the life 
of this contract for the benefit of such employees as are 
required to be covered by the provisions of the Workers' 
Compensation Law. 
 
5. NON-DISCRIMINATION REQUIREMENTS.  To the 
extent required by Article 15 of the Executive Law (also 
known as the Human Rights Law) and all other State and 
Federal statutory and constitutional non-discrimination 
provisions, the Contractor will not discriminate against any 
employee or applicant for employment because of race, creed, 
color, sex (including gender identity or expression), national 
origin, sexual orientation, military status, age, disability, 
predisposing genetic characteristics, marital status or domestic 
violence victim status.  Furthermore, in accordance with 
Section 220-e of the Labor Law, if this is a contract for the 
construction, alteration or repair of any public building or 
public work or for the manufacture, sale or distribution of 
materials, equipment or supplies, and to the extent that this 
contract shall be performed within the State of New York, 
Contractor agrees that neither it nor its subcontractors shall, by 
reason of race, creed, color, disability, sex, or national origin:  
(a) discriminate in hiring against any New York State citizen 
who is qualified and available to perform the work; or (b) 
discriminate against or intimidate any employee hired for the 
performance of work under this contract.  If this is a building 
service contract as defined in Section 230 of the Labor Law, 
then, in accordance with Section 239 thereof, Contractor 
agrees that neither it nor its subcontractors shall by reason of 
race, creed, color, national origin, age, sex or disability:  (a) 
discriminate in hiring against any New York State citizen who 
is qualified and available to perform the work; or (b) 
discriminate against or intimidate any employee hired for the 
performance of work under this contract.  Contractor is subject 
to fines of $50.00 per person per day for any violation of 
Section 220-e or Section 239 as well as possible termination 
of this contract and forfeiture of all moneys due hereunder for 
a second or subsequent violation. 
 
6. WAGE AND HOURS PROVISIONS.  If this is a public 
work contract covered by Article 8 of the Labor Law or a 
building service contract covered by Article 9 thereof, neither 
Contractor's employees nor the employees of its 
subcontractors may be required or permitted to work more 
than the number of hours or days stated in said statutes, except 
as otherwise provided in the Labor Law and as set forth in 
prevailing wage and supplement schedules issued by the State 
Labor Department.  Furthermore, Contractor and its 
subcontractors must pay at least the prevailing wage rate and 
pay or provide the prevailing supplements, including the 
premium rates for overtime pay, as determined by the State 
Labor Department in accordance with the Labor Law.  
Additionally, effective April 28, 2008, if this is a public work 
contract covered by Article 8 of the Labor Law, the Contractor 
understands and agrees that the filing of payrolls in a manner 
consistent with Subdivision 3-a of Section 220 of the Labor 
Law shall be a condition precedent to payment by the State of 



STANDARD CLAUSES FOR NYS CONTRACTS APPENDIX A 
 

Page  4   January 2014 

any State approved sums due and owing for work done upon 
the project. 
 
7. NON-COLLUSIVE BIDDING CERTIFICATION.  In 
accordance with Section 139-d of the State Finance Law, if 
this contract was awarded based upon the submission of bids, 
Contractor affirms, under penalty of perjury, that its bid was 
arrived at independently and without collusion aimed at 
restricting competition.  Contractor further affirms that, at the 
time Contractor submitted its bid, an authorized and 
responsible person executed and delivered to the State a non-
collusive bidding certification on Contractor's behalf. 
 
8. INTERNATIONAL BOYCOTT PROHIBITION.  In 
accordance with Section 220-f of the Labor Law and Section 
139-h of the State Finance Law, if this contract exceeds 
$5,000, the Contractor agrees, as a material condition of the 
contract, that neither the Contractor nor any substantially 
owned or affiliated person, firm, partnership or corporation 
has participated, is participating, or shall participate in an 
international boycott in violation of the federal Export 
Administration Act of 1979 (50 USC App. Sections 2401 et 
seq.) or regulations thereunder.  If such Contractor, or any of 
the aforesaid affiliates of Contractor, is convicted or is 
otherwise found to have violated said laws or regulations upon 
the final determination of the United States Commerce 
Department or any other appropriate agency of the United 
States subsequent to the contract's execution, such contract, 
amendment or modification thereto shall be rendered forfeit 
and void.  The Contractor shall so notify the State Comptroller 
within five (5) business days of such conviction, determination 
or disposition of appeal (2NYCRR 105.4). 
 
9. SET-OFF RIGHTS.  The State shall have all of its 
common law, equitable and statutory rights of set-off.  These 
rights shall include, but not be limited to, the State's option to 
withhold for the purposes of set-off any moneys due to the 
Contractor under this contract up to any amounts due and 
owing to the State with regard to this contract, any other 
contract with any State department or agency, including any 
contract for a term commencing prior to the term of this 
contract, plus any amounts due and owing to the State for any 
other reason including, without limitation, tax delinquencies, 
fee delinquencies or monetary penalties relative thereto.  The 
State shall exercise its set-off rights in accordance with normal 
State practices including, in cases of set-off pursuant to an 
audit, the finalization of such audit by the State agency, its 
representatives, or the State Comptroller. 
 
10.  RECORDS.  The Contractor shall establish and maintain 
complete and accurate books, records, documents, accounts 
and other evidence directly pertinent to performance under 
this contract (hereinafter, collectively, "the Records").  The 
Records must be kept for the balance of the calendar year in 
which they were made and for six (6) additional years 
thereafter.  The State Comptroller, the Attorney General and 
any other person or entity authorized to conduct an 
examination, as well as the agency or agencies involved in this 

contract, shall have access to the Records during normal 
business hours at an office of the Contractor within the State 
of New York or, if no such office is available, at a mutually 
agreeable and reasonable venue within the State, for the term 
specified above for the purposes of inspection, auditing and 
copying.  The State shall take reasonable steps to protect from 
public disclosure any of the Records which are exempt from 
disclosure under Section 87 of the Public Officers Law (the 
"Statute") provided that:  (i) the Contractor shall timely inform 
an appropriate State official, in writing, that said records 
should not be disclosed; and (ii) said records shall be 
sufficiently identified; and (iii) designation of said records as 
exempt under the Statute is reasonable.  Nothing contained 
herein shall diminish, or in any way adversely affect, the 
State's right to discovery in any pending or future litigation. 
 
11. IDENTIFYING INFORMATION AND PRIVACY 
NOTIFICATION.    (a) Identification Number(s).  Every 
invoice or New York State Claim for Payment submitted to a 
New York State agency by a payee, for payment for the sale of 
goods or services or for transactions (e.g., leases, easements, 
licenses, etc.) related to real or personal property must include 
the payee's identification number.  The number is any or all of 
the following: (i) the payee’s Federal employer identification 
number, (ii) the payee’s Federal social security number, and/or 
(iii) the payee’s Vendor Identification Number assigned by the 
Statewide Financial System.  Failure to include such number 
or numbers may delay payment. Where the payee does not 
have such number or numbers, the payee, on its invoice or 
Claim for Payment, must give the reason or reasons why the 
payee does not have such number or numbers. 
 
(b) Privacy Notification.  (1)  The authority to request the 
above personal information from a seller of goods or services 
or a lessor of real or personal property, and the authority to 
maintain such information, is found in Section 5 of the State 
Tax Law.  Disclosure of this information by the seller or lessor 
to the State is mandatory. The principal purpose for which the 
information is collected is to enable the State to identify 
individuals,  businesses  and others who have been delinquent 
in filing tax returns or may have understated their tax 
liabilities and to generally identify persons affected by the 
taxes administered by the Commissioner of Taxation and 
Finance.  The information will be used for tax administration 
purposes and for any other purpose authorized by law. (2) The 
personal information is requested by the purchasing unit of the 
agency contracting to purchase the goods or services or lease 
the real or personal property covered by this contract or lease. 
The information is maintained in the Statewide Financial 
System by the Vendor Management Unit within the Bureau of 
State Expenditures, Office of the State Comptroller, 110 State 
Street, Albany, New York 12236. 
 
12. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES FOR 
MINORITIES AND WOMEN.  In accordance with Section 
312 of the Executive Law and 5 NYCRR 143, if this contract 
is:  (i) a written agreement or purchase order instrument, 
providing for a total expenditure in excess of $25,000.00, 
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whereby a contracting agency is committed to expend or does 
expend funds in return for labor, services, supplies, 
equipment, materials or any combination of the foregoing, to 
be performed for, or rendered or furnished to the contracting 
agency; or (ii) a written agreement in excess of $100,000.00 
whereby a contracting agency is committed to expend or does 
expend funds for the acquisition, construction, demolition, 
replacement, major repair or renovation of real property and 
improvements thereon; or (iii) a written agreement in excess 
of $100,000.00 whereby the owner of a State assisted housing 
project is committed to expend or does expend funds for the 
acquisition, construction, demolition, replacement, major 
repair or renovation of real property and improvements 
thereon for such project, then the following shall apply and by 
signing this agreement the Contractor certifies and affirms that 
it is Contractor’s equal employment opportunity policy that: 
 
(a)  The Contractor will not discriminate against employees or 
applicants for employment because of race, creed, color, 
national origin, sex, age, disability or marital status, shall 
make and document its conscientious and active efforts to 
employ and utilize minority group members and women in its 
work force on State contracts and will undertake or continue 
existing programs of affirmative action to ensure that minority 
group members and women are afforded equal employment 
opportunities without discrimination.  Affirmative action shall 
mean recruitment, employment, job assignment, promotion, 
upgradings, demotion, transfer, layoff, or termination and rates 
of pay or other forms of compensation; 
 
(b)  at the request of the contracting agency, the Contractor 
shall request each employment agency, labor union, or 
authorized representative of workers with which it has a 
collective bargaining or other agreement or understanding, to 
furnish a written statement that such employment agency, 
labor union or representative will not discriminate on the basis 
of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, disability or 
marital status and that such union or representative will 
affirmatively cooperate in the implementation of the 
Contractor's obligations herein; and  
 
(c)  the Contractor shall state, in all solicitations or 
advertisements for employees, that, in the performance of the 
State contract, all qualified applicants will be afforded equal 
employment opportunities without discrimination because of 
race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, disability or 
marital status. 
 
Contractor will include the provisions of "a", "b", and "c" 
above, in every subcontract over $25,000.00 for the 
construction, demolition, replacement, major repair, 
renovation, planning or design of real property and 
improvements thereon (the "Work") except where the Work is 
for the beneficial use of the Contractor.  Section 312 does not 
apply to:  (i) work, goods or services unrelated to this contract; 
or (ii) employment outside New York State.  The State shall 
consider compliance by a contractor or subcontractor with the 
requirements of any federal law concerning equal employment 

opportunity which effectuates the purpose of this section.  The 
contracting agency shall determine whether the imposition of 
the requirements of the provisions hereof duplicate or conflict 
with any such federal law and if such duplication or conflict 
exists, the contracting agency shall waive the applicability of 
Section 312 to the extent of such duplication or conflict.  
Contractor will comply with all duly promulgated and lawful 
rules and regulations of the Department of Economic 
Development’s  Division of Minority and Women's Business 
Development pertaining hereto. 
 
13. CONFLICTING TERMS.  In the event of a conflict 
between the terms of the contract (including any and all 
attachments thereto and amendments thereof) and the terms of 
this Appendix A, the terms of this Appendix A shall control. 
 
14. GOVERNING LAW.  This contract shall be governed by 
the laws of the State of New York except where the Federal 
supremacy clause requires otherwise. 
 
15. LATE PAYMENT.  Timeliness of payment and any 
interest to be paid to Contractor for late payment shall be 
governed by Article 11-A of the State Finance Law to the 
extent required by law. 
 
16. NO ARBITRATION.  Disputes involving this contract, 
including the breach or alleged breach thereof, may not be 
submitted to binding arbitration (except where statutorily 
authorized), but must, instead, be heard in a court of 
competent jurisdiction of the State of New York. 
 
17. SERVICE OF PROCESS.  In addition to the methods of 
service allowed by the State Civil Practice Law & Rules 
("CPLR"), Contractor hereby consents to service of process 
upon it by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  
Service hereunder shall be complete upon Contractor's actual 
receipt of process or upon the State's receipt of the return 
thereof by the United States Postal Service as refused or 
undeliverable.  Contractor must promptly notify the State, in 
writing, of each and every change of address to which service 
of process can be made.  Service by the State to the last known 
address shall be sufficient.  Contractor will have thirty (30) 
calendar days after service hereunder is complete in which to 
respond. 
 
18. PROHIBITION ON PURCHASE OF TROPICAL 
HARDWOODS. The Contractor certifies and warrants that 
all wood products to be used under this contract award will be 
in accordance with, but not limited to, the specifications and 
provisions of Section 165 of the State Finance Law, (Use of 
Tropical Hardwoods) which prohibits purchase and use of 
tropical hardwoods, unless specifically exempted, by the State 
or any governmental agency or political subdivision or public 
benefit corporation. Qualification for an exemption under this 
law will be the responsibility of the contractor to establish to 
meet with the approval of the State. 
 



STANDARD CLAUSES FOR NYS CONTRACTS APPENDIX A 
 

Page  6   January 2014 

In addition, when any portion of this contract involving the 
use of woods, whether supply or installation, is to be 
performed by any subcontractor, the prime Contractor will 
indicate and certify in the submitted bid proposal that the 
subcontractor has been informed and is in compliance with 
specifications and provisions regarding use of tropical 
hardwoods as detailed in §165 State Finance Law. Any such 
use must meet with the approval of the State; otherwise, the 
bid may not be considered responsive. Under bidder 
certifications, proof of qualification for exemption will be the 
responsibility of the Contractor to meet with the approval of 
the State. 
 
19. MACBRIDE FAIR EMPLOYMENT PRINCIPLES.  
In accordance with the MacBride Fair Employment Principles 
(Chapter 807 of the Laws of 1992), the Contractor hereby 
stipulates that the Contractor either (a) has no business 
operations in Northern Ireland, or (b) shall take lawful steps in 
good faith to conduct any business operations in Northern 
Ireland in accordance with the MacBride Fair Employment 
Principles (as described in Section 165 of the New York State 
Finance Law), and shall permit independent monitoring of 
compliance with such principles. 
 
20.  OMNIBUS PROCUREMENT ACT OF 1992. It is the 
policy of New York State to maximize opportunities for the 
participation of New York State business enterprises, 
including minority and women-owned business enterprises as 
bidders, subcontractors and suppliers on its procurement 
contracts. 
 
Information on the availability of New York State 
subcontractors and suppliers is available from: 
 

NYS Department of Economic Development 
Division for Small Business 
Albany, New York  12245 
Telephone:  518-292-5100 
Fax:  518-292-5884 
email: opa@esd.ny.gov 
 

A directory of certified minority and women-owned business 
enterprises is available from: 
 

NYS Department of Economic Development 
Division of Minority and Women's Business Development 
633 Third Avenue 
New York, NY 10017 
212-803-2414 
email: mwbecertification@esd.ny.gov 
https://ny.newnycontracts.com/FrontEnd/VendorSearchPu
blic.asp 

 
The Omnibus Procurement Act of 1992 requires that by 
signing this bid proposal or contract, as applicable, 
Contractors certify that whenever the total bid amount is 
greater than $1 million: 
 

(a)  The Contractor has made reasonable efforts to encourage 
the participation of New York State Business Enterprises as 
suppliers and subcontractors, including certified minority and 
women-owned business enterprises, on this project, and has 
retained the documentation of these efforts to be provided 
upon request to the State; 
 
(b) The Contractor has complied with the Federal Equal 
Opportunity Act of 1972 (P.L. 92-261), as amended;  
 
(c) The Contractor agrees to make reasonable efforts to 
provide notification to New York State residents of 
employment opportunities on this project through listing any 
such positions with the Job Service Division of the New York 
State Department of Labor, or providing such notification in 
such manner as is consistent with existing collective 
bargaining contracts or agreements.  The Contractor agrees to 
document these efforts and to provide said documentation to 
the State upon request; and  
 
(d) The Contractor acknowledges notice that the State may 
seek to obtain offset credits from foreign countries as a result 
of this contract and agrees to cooperate with the State in these 
efforts. 
 
21. RECIPROCITY AND SANCTIONS PROVISIONS.   
Bidders are hereby notified that if their principal place of 
business is located in a country, nation, province, state or 
political subdivision that penalizes New York State vendors, 
and if the goods or services they offer will be substantially 
produced or performed outside New York State, the Omnibus 
Procurement Act 1994 and 2000 amendments (Chapter 684 
and Chapter 383, respectively) require that they be denied 
contracts which they would otherwise obtain.  NOTE:  As of 
May 15, 2002, the list of discriminatory jurisdictions subject 
to this provision includes the states of South Carolina, Alaska, 
West Virginia, Wyoming, Louisiana and Hawaii.  Contact 
NYS Department of Economic Development for a current list 
of jurisdictions subject to this provision. 
 
22. COMPLIANCE WITH NEW YORK STATE 
INFORMATION SECURITY BREACH AND 
NOTIFICATION ACT.   Contractor shall comply with the 
provisions of the New York State Information Security Breach 
and Notification Act (General Business Law Section 899-aa; 
State Technology Law Section 208).   
 
23. COMPLIANCE WITH CONSULTANT 
DISCLOSURE LAW. If this is a contract for consulting 
services, defined for purposes of this requirement to include 
analysis, evaluation, research, training, data processing, 
computer programming, engineering, environmental, health, 
and mental health services, accounting, auditing, paralegal, 
legal or similar services, then, in accordance with Section 163 
(4-g) of the State Finance Law (as amended by Chapter 10 of 
the Laws of 2006), the Contractor shall timely, accurately and 
properly comply with the requirement to submit an annual 
employment report for the contract to the agency that awarded 

mailto:opa@esd.ny.gov
mailto:mwbecertification@esd.ny.gov
https://ny.newnycontracts.com/FrontEnd/VendorSearchPublic.asp
https://ny.newnycontracts.com/FrontEnd/VendorSearchPublic.asp
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the contract, the Department of Civil Service and the State 
Comptroller.   
 
24. PROCUREMENT LOBBYING. To the extent this 
agreement is a "procurement contract" as defined by  
State Finance Law Sections 139-j and 139-k, by signing this 
agreement the contractor certifies and affirms that all 
disclosures made in accordance with State Finance Law 
Sections 139-j and 139-k are complete, true and accurate.  In 
the event such certification is found to be intentionally false or 
intentionally incomplete, the State may terminate the 
agreement by providing written notification to the Contractor 
in accordance with the terms of the agreement.   
 
25. CERTIFICATION OF REGISTRATION TO 
COLLECT SALES AND COMPENSATING USE TAX 
BY CERTAIN STATE CONTRACTORS, AFFILIATES 
AND SUBCONTRACTORS.   
To the extent this agreement is a contract as defined by Tax 
Law Section 5-a, if the contractor fails to make the 
certification required by Tax Law Section 5-a or if during the 
term of the contract, the Department of Taxation and Finance 
or the covered agency, as defined by Tax Law 5-a, discovers 
that the certification, made under penalty of perjury, is false, 
then such failure to file or false certification shall be a material 
breach of this contract and this contract may be terminated, by 
providing written notification to the Contractor in accordance 
with the terms of the agreement, if the covered agency 
determines that such action is in the best interest of the State. 
 
26. IRAN DIVESTMENT ACT.  By entering into this 
Agreement, Contractor certifies in accordance with State 
Finance Law §165-a that it is not on the “Entities Determined 
to be Non-Responsive Bidders/Offerers pursuant to the New 
York State Iran Divestment Act of 2012” (“Prohibited Entities 
List”) posted at: 
http://www.ogs.ny.gov/about/regs/docs/ListofEntities.pdf 
 
Contractor further certifies that it will not utilize on this 
Contract any subcontractor that is identified on the Prohibited 
Entities List.  Contractor agrees that should it seek to renew or 
extend this Contract, it must provide the same certification at 
the time the Contract is renewed or extended.  Contractor also 
agrees that any proposed Assignee of this Contract will be 
required to certify that it is not on the Prohibited Entities List 
before the contract assignment will be approved by the State. 
 
During the term of the Contract, should the state agency 
receive information that a person (as defined in State Finance 
Law §165-a) is in violation of the above-referenced 
certifications, the state agency will review such information 
and offer the person an opportunity to respond.  If the person 
fails to demonstrate that it has ceased its engagement in the 
investment activity which is in violation of the Act within 90 
days after the determination of such violation, then the state 
agency shall take such action as may be appropriate and 
provided for by law, rule, or contract, including, but not 

limited to, imposing sanctions, seeking compliance, 
recovering damages, or declaring the Contractor in default. 
 
The state agency reserves the right to reject any bid, request 
for assignment, renewal or extension for an entity that appears 
on the Prohibited Entities List prior to the award, assignment, 
renewal or extension of a contract, and to pursue a 
responsibility review with respect to any entity that is awarded 
a contract and appears on the Prohibited Entities list after 
contract award.   
 
 

http://www.ogs.ny.gov/about/regs/docs/ListofEntities.pdf
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